Berks. Archaeological Journal, Vol. 64.
Printed in Great Britain

EATON HASTINGS: A DESERTED MEDIEVAL VILLAGE
JOHN BROOKS :

HE failure of the earlier volumes of the
Victoria County History to give adequate
attention to social and economic matters in
general, and to the question of deserted villages
in particular, has been recognised for some
years.! To this category of neglect the Berkshire
volumes contribute, and it is the purpose of
this article to examine the fate of one depopu-
lated settlement in the county, though of the
existence or non-existence of an inhabited
village within the parish of Eaton Hastings the
Victoria County History says nothing.2
Eaton Hastings (SU 264985) is situated in
north-west Berkshire some two and a half
miles north-west of Faringdon, and geographi-
cal factors played an important part in both its
settlement and desertion. Oxford Clay domi-
nates as the soil of the parish and the attendant
poor drainage is accentuated by the insignifi-
cance of the surface slope toward the Thames.
The limited capacity and heaviness of the soil,
and the risk of flooding, contribute to make
this an area now largely under grass of variable
quality. On the basis of these facts and the
modern map it has been asserted that ‘no
villages developed on the river’ in this area
because the dry sites and arable land of the
Corallian Ridge to the south were too close an
alternative settlement attraction.® However, in
reality, the few houses and scattered farms
cited as evidence in the case of Eaton Hastings
-represent only the modern residue of a sub-
stantial medieval village, basing itself in large
measure on arable farming.4
It is proposed to examine the developments
at Eaton Hastings by studying three reasonably
well-defined periods: its expansion and con-
dition up to the early fourteenth century; its
subsequent contraction and actual desertion,
completed by the first part of the sixteenth

century; and, finally, developments since
that date.

THE VILLAGE BEFORE THE BLACK DEATH

The earliest mention of the village occurs in
1086 in the Domesday Survey,® but just when
it had come into existence is uncertain. The
basic element in its name, Eaton, means tun
(a homestead or village) by a river, its Thame-
side situation distinguishing it from other tuns.
As a place-name element ‘tun’ was used over
several centuries, so little light is shed on the
date of foundation of the settlement, but the
late rather than the early part of the Anglo-
Saxon period is most likely.” The second
element in its name is derived from the Hastings
family who, holding the manor in 1086, re-
tained it until 12778® when it passed by marriage
to the Blackenhams.® In 1297 it passed, again
by marriage, to the St. Philiberts who held it
until 1358.10 Under these lords there seems to
have been one subtenancy. Domesday Book
records that a holding worth twenty shillings
had been given by the previous lord Ponz to
Westminster Abbey,! and in 1333 John
Thurstayn, a village resident, held a messuage
and carucate within the manor for the service
of one-fifth of a knight,'? but there is nothing to
show that these are the same holding.

The village itself seems to have been nuclea-
ted in the neighbourhood of the church, an
assumption supported by the existing earth-
works there. Evidence for the size of the
settlement is sparse after the Domesday Book
record of twenty-nine households on the
manor and subtenancy in 108613 Further
documentation on population is lacking until
1294 when the sequence of surviving subsidy
rolls for Berkshire begins. The persons men-
tioned in these taxation returns are only those
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paying; an unknown but probably larger
proportion of the inhabitants are not recorded.
The rolls for 1294, 1327 and 1332 give the
number of taxpayers in the vill as twenty-
seven (at least), twenty-six and twenty-seven
respectively,! figures at least establishing a
minimum indicative of reasonable size. The
settlement was included in the Nomina
Villarum of 1316, and the size of its tax
quota when fixed in 1334 further illustrates
that this was no ‘pigmy’ village relative to
others in the county, for at £4 4s. 6}d. it was
slightly above the average assessment.® In
1327 and 1332 the number of its payers was
high, though its actual payment was slightly
low relative to those of villages in the immediate
vicinity.

However, the best indication of the village’s
size can be obtained from a manorial extent or
survey, made in 1333 on the death of John
de St. Philibert, in which are recorded nine
free tenants, eighteen virgaters, five half-
virgaters and seven cottarsl” The total of
thirty-nine households may be compared with
the twenty-nine of 1086 to give a broad
impression of increase, but it is possible that in
1333 Eaton had already passed its population
peak since the general trend in many areas
turned downward early in the fourteenth
century, even before the catastrophe of the
Black Death. This extent of 1333 is also the
best source of information on features of the
village and the layout of its fields. The entry in
Domesday Book!® refers to two fisheries,
worth sixteen shillings, and two are again
recorded. One in the Thames was worth
L1 6s. 8d., whilst another ‘in a river beside the
Thames’ was worth 8s., subsequent evidence
suggesting that this latter was in one of the
manor’s drainage ditches.?® No mill was
recorded in 1086 but one certainly existed by
the earlier fourteenth century, for William le
Mulleward was a taxpayer in 1332,20 and in the
following year a water-mill, worth L1 6s. 8d.
per annum nett, was mentioned. This extent
also provides the sole available insight for this
period into the arrangement of the village’s
fields: the 406 acres of demesne arable are

described as lying dispersed, 200 acres in
‘Westfeld’, 206 in ‘Estfeld’. The open-field
system, based on two fields, prevailed at this
date.

It seems certain that arable farming played a
large part in the economy of the village in this
period. The Domesday entry records nine
ploughs at work, although 148 acres were
said to be meadow (a high figure explicable by
the riverside location), and in the carucage of
1220 payment was liable on eleven ploughs.2!
The extent of 1333 supports the importance of
arable land-use suggested by these details.
The lord’s demesne then contained 406 acres
of arable (the 200 in the West field being worth
annually four pence each sown, a penny each
as pasture; the 206 acres in the East field
threepence and a penny respectively), fifty
acres of meadow (worth 3s. 4d. each), forty
acres of wood, and a several pasture. The area
of pasture is unrecorded but, valued at 8s. in
all, it is unlikely to have been very extensive.

A bailiff’s account referring to the church
provides information about crops and stock.22
Concerning the former, wheat, barley, dredge,
oats, peas and beans, concerning the latter,
horses, oxen, pigs and lambs amongst others
are recorded. This statement of the income and
expenditure for 1297-8 also records com-
modities such as eels, honey and doves received,
and gives the purchase prices of a new-
equipped plough as 4s. 6d., and of a new
cart as 11s. 13d.

THE VILLAGE FROM THE BLACK DEATH
TO ITS DESERTION

For most of this period tenure of the manor
was by one family, the Trussells. Acquired
initially by them in 1358% it passed by a
female heir to the de Penbrugges in 1363,24
but in 1386 Robert Trussell was said to have
held the manor, acquired for life and a year,
from Fulk Penbrugge.2 Eaton was included
among the possessions of a Robert Trussell in
1398-9,%6 but in 1401-2 Fulk Penbrugge was
said to hold it directly of the king.*” Fulk held
it until his death in 14.08—-9,28 but by 1428 the
Trussells were again in possession®® and their
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tenure lasted until 1507.3° Subsequently the
manor passed by marriage to John de Vere
and his wife Elizabeth3 by whom it was
leased to Sir Thomas Fettiplace for some
period before 1524.3% Between 1544 and 1546
Eaton was the subject of three sales. The first
was by the de Veres to Henry VIII for £2000.33
In 1545 he resold it, at a considerable loss, to
Sir Thomas Seymour for f1193 12s. 2d. 3
while in the following year Seymour obtained
L2800 for it from Thomas Wenman3% Of
these manorial holders, the Trussells are per-
haps of significance since some other villages
held by them in the fifteenth century are now
deserted,%® and the connection of Fettiplace
and the Wenmans with Eaton is certainly very
important.3” The sub-tenancy noted earlier can
still be traced intermittently. In 1378-9 the
Thurstayns were holding a tenement and
carucate of Penbrugge,® and in 1486 Thomas
Fermar or Richardes was said to have held a
messuage and thirty acres of William Trussell.3®

The desertion of the village was not directly
caused by the Black Death. The allowances
given on the tax quota in 1351 and 1352
indicate that Eaton had not suffered undue
immediate effects: with reliefs of 20s. and 23s.
the percentages allowed were 2479%, and
28:49%, in the respective years, as against an
average (for all quotas on the county roll of
1334) of 35% and 299%,.4° The implied picture
here receives general support from a bailiff’s
account of 1354—5% which refers to the works
of six free men, to those of a number of servile
tenants (of whom there may have been ten or
fifteen),? and to only one person’s tenement as
vacant and in the lord’s hand. Low profits are
in some entries explained as due to ‘the dearth
of buyers’, and reduced values as since ‘the
pestilence’. Poll tax returns would have
provided a useful pointer to the village’s
condition towards the end of the fourteenth
century, but these have not survived. However,
population decline may well have been a
feature of this period and of the fifteenth
century, perhaps through slow retreat from
relatively marginal land, or through depopulat-
ing action by the Trussells. The lack of evi-

dence concerning the village’s size is not
relieved until the early sixteenth century: it
was then claimed in an enclosure case that a
township of thirty households had just been
destroyed.#® The subsidy records for this
hundred in 1524 and 1525 are not extant, but
in 1540-1 Eaton Hastings was not separately
assessed,* and in 1542—3 only four men paid,
all small sums.4® Essentially, the village had
become deserted.

In the thinly documented period before the
earlier sixteenth century there is little evidence
concerning the village’s fields, beyond the
naming in 1354—5 of meadow, such as that in
Westmede and Whecham and Milham, and
pasture as in Oxenlese and at Jackeswere.46
However, more can be learned of the mill and
fisheries. In the late fourteenth century?’ the
two fisheries, described as Natherwater in the
Thames and another in the ditches around the
manor, still existed, as did the mill, though all
had dropped to a lower valuation after the
Black Death. The water mill and ‘fishings’ are
again mentioned in the sale of the manor in
1546.48

Between the mid-fourteenth and the earlier
sixteenth centuries the manor experienced
agricultural changes whereby pasture assumed
the dominant place in its economy, though the
dearth of evidence for much of the period
makes dating difficult. It seems unlikely that
radical change immediately followed the Black
Death. The bailiff’s account of 1354—5%°
shows an arable demesne still at 400 acres, of
which 162 were actually under crop, 814 were
fallow prior to sowing, and 156} were fallow as
pasture, the whole being valued at 75s. Eleven
ploughs are also recorded. Five pastures
(one at Kelmscot, north of the Thames) are
mentioned, but an acreage is given for only
one (ten acres). The various meadows listed
total 732 acres. Crops grown included wheat,
barley, pulses, berecorn and oats, and the
variety of stock ranges from oxen to cygnets.
But by 1388 change was occurring, most
obviously on the demesne.?® It had increased
in size to 560 acres, of which 160 remained
arable worth 4d. each, and 400 were described
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as fallow for pasture worth 20s. in all.5!
Demesne meadow, valued at 2s. per acre,
constituted sixty-four acres, and woodland
thirty. The sub-tenancy was described in
1486 as having twenty acres of arable and ten
of meadow.52 But as in the case of population,
the land-use situation becomes clear again
only in the sixteenth century, when a very
different situation is shown.

How far this movement towards pasture
progressed in the fifteenth century is indeter-
minable, but real depopulation struck Eaton
Hastings in the early sixteenth century, more
specifically at some time in the period 1509
to 1523, if weight can be given to a contem-
porary complaint. The evidence is derived
from a case in Star Chamber in which Richard
Wenman, on behalf of the freeholders of Eaton,
sought redress against Sir Thomas Fettiplace,
lessee of the manor from the de Veres.5 The
charges made were that Fettiplace had enclosed
two hundred acres of arable, thus depriving
the freeholders of their rights of common on
it; he had impounded four hundred of their
sheep; he was attempting to monopolize the
common and had overcharged it; despite their
tenure of a quarter of the manor the freeholders
could keep little or no stock. Unless the king
offered remedy, Wenman claimed, Fettiplace’s
actions would cause ‘the destrucc(i)on of the
seyd Towen’ of Eatton wheryn nowe be
many inhabitants dwellers & maynteners of
howses of husbondry’. In reply Fettiplace
claimed that the complaint was untrue, in-
sufficient etc. He denied the enclosure and
stated that both Wenman and he had actions
pending at common law for this matter and for
trespass respectively. He also declared that ‘the
freeholders be but ij persons in all whois
londs the same Richard hath purchesid &
holdith in ferme of the said ij persons’. Wen-
man followed up with another counter. There
were three freeholders apart from himself who
should have common on the enclosed ground,
but Fettiplace had stopped up the gaps to
prevent their access. He continued that,
whereas formerly the lord or farmer and all the
customary tenants (the lands of all of which

parties Fettiplace is implied to hold) used to
have a maximum of 2500 sheep ‘upon the said
grounde’, Sir Thomas now had 3500 at least.
He added that ‘wher of old tyme ther hath
ben xxx howsolds ther is now lefte but only the
maner whyche is the sheppards lodgyng and
one howse whyche the said Rychard Wayneman
hath byldyd and the parsonage.’

There are clearly certain problems here.
For example, did the depopulation actually
occur in the time between Wenman’s bill and
his reply or was he using an already old
situation to blacken Fettiplace; did ‘many
houses of husbandry’ manage to coexist with a
flock of 2500 sheep? The answers are not to be
found, but desertion was an accomplished fact
by the 1540s. The available evidence seems to
suggest indirectly an increase in the manor’s
profitability, conceivably connected with a
change in land-use, in the early sixteenth
century. Inquisitions post mortem for 1500
and 1507% give its value (i.e. the potential
annual income to be derived from it) as [2o,
but the sale prices of the 1540s, ranging from
60 to 140 times this amount, seem indicative of
a higher figure. The activities of Fettiplace
and Wenman may well have proved fatal to
the survival of the village as a community. If
Fettiplace did maintain a flock of 3500 sheep
there can have been little land left for arable
farming, and the complainant Wenman himself
probably had little love for ‘husbandry’. He
was a woolgrower and woolbuyer whose
actions at Caswell (near Witney, Oxon),
where he was reported in 1517 for the con-
version to pasture of twenty acres, are suspected
of completing depopulation there.’® This Star
Chamber case may in fact be one in which two
enclosers were fighting each other over a
village which lay by now beneath the grass.
The episode was rounded off in 1546 when
Thomas Wenman of ‘Carswell’ purchased the
manor for £2800.5¢ Details of the estate had
been given in the sale of 1544: all the figures
then quoted were clearly vastly exaggerated
and rounded, but the pasture to arable ratio of
three to one is striking.5?
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THE PARISH SINCE DESERTION

The situation of essentially no population
and one-man ownership did not remain fixed.
Today Eaton Hastings, though without a
village, is not an empty parish. However, the
change to predominantly pasture land-use,
naturally most suitable though not practised
earlier for reasons including population pres-
sure, was to be permanent.

The Wenmans held the manor for most of
the period up to 1600 (not continually because
of disputes), after which it was held by the
Norreyses till 1628, and then by Henry
Marten.% The estates of his family were sold
in 1674,5 after which the descent is uncertain
until the end of the eighteenth century.
Evidence concerning population is almost
entirely lacking until the hearth tax returns of
the 1660s.60 According to these there were then
sixteen households in the parish, of which
thirteen actually paid.®* Single households
were returned as having ten and five fire-
hearths each; five had three each. This evidence
for small-scale repopulation is supported by the
returns of the ecclesiastical census of 1676
according to which there were fifty inhabitants
over the age of sixteen.®® The form taken by
this resettlement cannot be certainly estab-
lished until 1761 when Rocque’s map reveals a
number of scattered farms.%® Buildings are
shown apparently on the sites of the present
Church Hill, Lower House, Crabtree, Philip’s,
Kilmester’s and Stud Farms and at the Grange,
with some others that included a limited
number on the main road to the south. Since
this date the basic settlement pattern, charac-
terised by very little nucleation, has not
changed substantially. Within it the population
has increased, but has fluctuated and remained
fairly low. In 1801 thirty families in twenty-
two houses made up a population of 137,%
in 1820 an increased number were said to
inhabit twenty cottages and five farmhouses,%
in 1841, 161 people occupied thirty houses,
and at the last full census there were one
hundred and ten persons in thirty houses in
the parish.%¢ Of the two established features of

the medieval village, the mill and fisheries,
there seems to be no direct reference to the mill
after 1546; but the Thames fishery continued
to be mentioned as late as the early eighteenth
century.%

The creation of a small number of farms by
sale or lease was probably proceeding in the
seventeenth century, and the lands of these
were apparently enclosed. An inquisition into
Henry Marten’s possessions in 1646 detailed
only a total of 160 acres as held by him in the
manor,% while a rental of 1650 names two non-
rentpaying tenants, Brasenose College Oxford
holding former Wenman lands, and John
Saunders gentleman lands formerly William
Greene’s by the latter’s purchase from Wen-
man.%® In 1721 a quit-claim shows the College
leasing out a farm in the parish.”® Typical
transactions in the seventeenth and early
eighteenth centuries involved a tenement and
347 acres in 1625,” two-thirds of two messu-
ages with 210 acres,” one-third of a messuage
with fifty-three and one with one hundred
acres,”™ all in 1686, and a farm with approxi-
mately one hundred acres in 1729.”% The
enclosed nature of lands is at times made quite
clear: in 1601 a 160-acre close of pasture
called London Way is mentioned;?® and in
1625 two pastures called Galloway Hill Fields
of 265 acres and two closes of thirty.?® The
precise nature of land-use in the parish is
difficult to determine but the large pasture
closes recorded in the early seventeenth
century and the description of Marten’s
manorial lands in 1646”7 as 110 acres of
pasture, ten of meadow and forty of wood are
suggestive. Arable farming clearly still had a
place in the area but Rocque’s map of 1761
shows grassland predominant except in a
small bloc between the main road and the
river.” In the 1820s Clarke recorded that more
than half of the unwooded area of approxi-
mately 1270 acres was pasture,’® and the
Victoria County History, citing figures for
1905, gives the arable acreage as 143 and the
pasture as 629.80 Grass, best suited to the soil,
remains the chief feature of land-use. The
area of woodland is now also much -greater
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than earlier: it normally covered about forty
acres up to the end of the eighteenth century,
but seems to have increased to over two
hundred acres by the late 1820s.8!

Finally a word must be said about the village
site as it is today, centred at SU 26439853. In
1830 the curate of the church stated that certain
foundations, which he suspected to be traces of
a village, were visible in a field called the ‘Old
Town’ near the river.®2 The foundations are no
longer to be seen on the surface but an area of
uneven ground, surrounded by ridge and
furrow (which has recently been somewhat
reduced), can be seen on aerial photographs®3
and on the ground. Spaced clumps of nettles,
probably indicative of fire-hearths, can be
observed,® and stonework, thought to represent
building foundations, was reported by a farmer
when a trench was dug across the field.%5

In respect of its apparent cause and period of
depopulation Eaton Hastings can be classified
among the majority of deserted villages, but as
regards its former size it is more unusual: the
settlement that was ‘eaten up’ by sheep had
not previously compared badly with its
neighbours that survived.
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